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82 GEORGE SQUARE 

The last house on the west side-No. 29-was the residence 
of James Brown, the builder of George Square as well as of 
the earlier Brown Square and the later Buccleuch Place, 
Charles Street, and Crichton Street. It is unfortunate that 
comparatively little is known of the personal history of Brown, 
who enhanced the architectural heritage of Edinburgh when 
the principles of town planning were almost unknown. 

James Brown, who was enterprising and businesslike, was 
well-connected. Besides being the moving spirit of ambitious 
building schemes, he was prominent in the affairs of the 
Riding Academy, already referred to. He purchased the site 
in Nicolson Street and reported to the directors that ' the 
Foundation of the Manege, according to Mr. [Robert] Adam's 
Plan' had been excavated. Furthermore Brown was one of 
a committee, which included Lord Haddington and Principal 
Robertson, appointed to procure 'a well qualified Master' 
for the establishment and, if unsuccessful, to arrange for the 
disposal of the horses. 

When the Riding Academy ceased to prosper, Brown was 
financially involved. 'Harassed and threaten'd with Dili­
gence,' he claimed the right to feu the ground belonging to 
the manege. The directors were sympathetic and, ' for 
imediate Reliefe of Mr. Brown,' instructed their agent to 
apply for payment to persons indebted to the Riding School. 
But these measures were ineffective, and Brown had the 
humiliation of intimating to the directors that he had been 
'apprehended on a Caption' for a debt of £117, 18s., being 
their share of the expenses ' for making the Road etc. in 
Nicholson Street.' Eventually he was released from his 
troubles, money being borrowed to liquidate the debt. 

As the projector of Buccleuch Place, it was perhaps 
natural that Brown should be actively interested in the 
establishment of the ' George's Square Assembly Rooms.' In 
March 1783 he advertised for plans and estimates, and from 
then onwards was conspicuous in the affairs of the institution. 

' 1 
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In 1799, when it was evident that its days were numbered, 
Brown eased the difficulties of the proprietors by purchasing 
the premises. He died in 1807. 

Brown's brother, George, after whom the ' Great Square ' 
was named,' from the love he [Jas. Brown] bore his brother,' 
owned the estates of Lindsaylands and Elliston, was a man 
of substance, and moved in the highest social circles. ' A 
gentleman of amiable temper and suavity of manner,' so he 
is described in Kay's Original Portraits, George Brown was 
one of the Commissioners of the Board of Excise in Scotland. 
In early life he followed a military career. He was a member 
of the Poker Club and, like his brother, much concerned with 
the fortunes of the Riding Academy. In a round-up of 
defaulting subscribers, he was associated with Lord Hadding­
ton in valuating the horses, furniture, and other property. 
He also signed a memorial to the Treasury for an increase of 
the royal bounty allotted to the establishment. 

George Brown married Dorothea Dundas of Dundas, by 
whom he had two sons and three daughters. The ladies 
became Viscountess Hampden, Lady Wedderburn of Ballin­
dean, and Lady Alexander Hope. George Brown, at one 
time a resident of George Square, died in 1806, aged eighty­
four. 

VI. FAMOUS RESIDENTs-SouTH Row 

The first house on the south side (going east), No. 30, had 
several notable residents. In the closing decades of the 
eighteenth century it was the town abode of Col. Robert 
Campbell of Monzie, whose wife was an aunt of Kirkpatrick 
Sharpe. A daughter of Charles Erskine of Tinwald, Lord 
Justice-Clerk, and a sister of Lord Barjarg, another Lord of 
Session, Mrs. Campbell was a typical Scots gentlewoman. 
Combative to a degree, she did not suffer fools gladly. Yet 
she was a social success, and the dancing Assembly found in 
her a capable directress. 
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From a window at No. 30 Kirkpatrick Sharpe saw young 
Walter Scott limping home in a cavalry uniform-the most 
grotesque spectacle that can be conceived, so thought Sharpe, 
who evidently had no taste for a military life. It is Sharpe, 
too, who tells us in droll fashion of the visits to his aunt of 
Miss Jean Elliot, the songstress. 'When Miss Jeanie's old 
Sedan [chair] appeared at my aunt Campbell's door in George 
Square of a summer evening at tea-time, we all became sad, 
knowing that a thunderstorm would ensue. My aunt and 
Jeanie retired after tea into the back drawing-room and, 
after a long prate, off jolts Jeanie in her Sedan, and my aunt 
falls foul of the whole company : her excellent daughters, a 
female cousin who resided with her, and your humble servant.' 

Later occupants of No. 30 included David Williamson 
Robertson Ewart, who sat in the Court of Session as Lord 
Balgray. He resided in George Square during the whole of 
his judgeship of more than twenty-six years. No. 30 was also 
the home for a brief period of John Borthwick of Crookston. 
He belonged to a Midlothian family as old as the fifteenth 
century. The Borthwicks had their town house at the north­
east corner of Lauriston Gardens (the building still exists), 
but near the middle of last century John Borthwick, who was 
an advocate, removed to George Square. 

In 1807 Archibald Borthwick, as heir male, claimed the 
title of Lord Borthwick, which had become dormant in 1772, 
on the death of the tenth holder. The case came before the 
House of Lords, when John Borthwick of Crookston, father 
of the George Square resident, claimed descent from John de 
Borthwick of Crookston, second son of the first Lord Borth­
wick. This claimant purchased the ancient fortalice of 
Borthwick. His son was a friend of Sir Walter. We read 
in the Journal, under date 17th February 1827: 'We dined 
today with Mr. Borthwick, younger of Crookston.' 

A more intimate relationship with Scott is recalled by the 
occupant of No. 31-James Pringle of Torwoodlee. To be 
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quite accurate, he was a relative of Scott. Pringle studied 
law at Cambridge and Leyden, but on succeeding to his uncle's 
estate of Torwoodlee he turned farmer and devoted himself 
to the improvement of his estate. He was Convener of Selkirk­
shire and commanded the local yeomanry. In November 
1818 Scott, Lockhart, and Adam Ferguson ' rode over together 
to Mr. Pringle's beautiful seat-the "distant Torwoodlee" 
of the Lay of the Last Minstrel' -but ' distant not above five 
or six miles from Abbotsford,' where they spent a ' joyous 
evening.' 

In 1837 No. 31 became the residence of Robert Kay 
Greville, a famous botanist. Son of an Anglican clergyman, 
he came to Edinburgh to study medicine. Possessed of 
independent means, he married early and settled in the city. 
Greville was a member of the Wernerian Society, before which, 
and the Botanical Society of Edinburgh, he read many papers. 
In 1823 he began serial publication of Scottish Oryptogamia 
Flora, which, dedicated to Hooker, extended to six volumes 
and contained three hundred plates drawn and coloured by 
himself. Greville did much to popularise botany by means 
of lectures. He also made scientific tours throughout Scotland, 
in the course of which he collected fifteen thousand specimens. 
These were presented to the Botanical Society of Edinburgh. 
Greville was one of the founders of the her barium in connection 
with Edinburgh University. In 1821 he was elected a Fellow 
of the Royal Society of Edinburgh, and three years later 
was honoured with the LL.D. degree by Glasgow University. 

A man of many-sided culture and considerable musical 
ability, Greville withal had strong religious instincts. He 
partly edited The Amethyst, or Christian Annual, to which 
he contributed devotional poems. He was also the author 
of a pamphlet entitled ' The Drama brought to the Test of 
Scripture and found wanting.' An effective temperance 
advocate, he published in 1834 ' Facts illustrative of the 
Drunkenness of Scotland.' Into the anti-slavery movement, 
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too, he threw himself wholeheartedly, while the Sabbath 
Alliance found him a warm supporter ; as did various mis­
sionary societies and ragged schools. Greville's artistic bent 
was displayed in numerous paintings exhibited at the Royal 
Scottish Academy. Even politics engrossed him. In 1856 
he was elected a Parliamentary representative for Edinburgh. 

In 1845 No. 31 was occupied by Mrs. Cheape of Rossie. 
She had two famous sons. Sir John Cheape had a distinguished 
military career in India. In 1853 he was appointed aide-de­
camp to Queen Victoria, and in 1866 was promoted general. 
His younger brother, Charles, was Professor of Civil Law in 
Edinburgh University, in which capacity he substituted 
English for Latin. He was a writer of lampoons and produced 
a burlesque opera. 

While Pringle of Torwoodlee was living at No. 31, his 
relative, Sir James Pringle of Stitchel, fourth baronet, was 
occupying No. 32. His uncle, Sir John Pringle, physician 
to George III and President of the Royal Society, had pre­
viously lived in this house, where he was visited more than 
once by James Boswell, a friend by 'hereditary connection.' 
In Boswell's Journal are several references to Sir John. 
Under date, 13th June 1781, occurs this entry: ' .. . Drank 
tea with Mr. George Wallace after which he and I visited Sir 
John Pringle and walked in the meadow with him and his 
Dull Women.' On 24th August of the same year Boswell 
' went uninvited to dine with Sir John Pringle' but ' found 
it was not the thing, as the saying is.' On 22nd January 1782, 
'having been informed by Mr. George Wallace that Sir John 
Pringle was taken very ill,' Boswell ' went out and visited 
Miss Hall, his Neice (sic) [at 22 George Square], and found it 
to be too true, and that there was no hope of his recovery.' 

Sir John, who was then in London, died the following day. 
On the 24th Boswell paid a visit of condolence to Sir James, 
the nephew and heir, at whose expense a monument to Sir 
John's memory by Nollekens was erected in Westminster 
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Abbey, though he was actually buried in St. James's Church 
Piccadilly. ' 

Sir James _served for many years in the Army, commanding 
the 59th Regiment. After retiring he became Lt.-Col. of the 
Southern Fencibles and, later, of the Roxburghshire Yeomanry. 
He represented Berwickshire in four Parliaments and at one 
time was H.M. Master of Works in Scotland. 

In 1809 No. 32 passed into the possession of Francis Grant 
of Kilgraston, father of the celebrated painter of the name, 
and of General Sir James Hope Grant. The former was 
President of the Royal Academy, and was knighted. Between 
1834 and 1879 he exhibited no fewer than 253 works, many 
of them full-length portraits of illustrious Victorians. Sir 
Francis also executed the portrait of Scott with his two 
staghounds, which Lockhart acclaimed ' the last really good 
portrait' of the Wizard. 

General Hope Grant was equally renowned. His military 
service was chiefly in India. During the Mutiny he was 
noted for the ease with which he managed movable columns. 
Grant ultimately became Commander-in-Chief at Madras. 
His last years were spent at Aldershot where he introduced 
annual man~uvres and the war game. Lord Wolseley paid 
generous tribute to Grant when he publicly remarked at 
Aldersh_ot: 'If I ~ave _attained any measure of military 
prosperity, my gratitude 1s due to one man-Sir James Hope 
Grant.' 

During the period 1817-30, No. 32 was the residence of 
the Dowager Lady Wedderburn (Alicia Dundas) and Sir 
David Wedderburn, Postmaster General for Scotland. 

A literary interest attaches to No. 32, since it was the 
temporary abode of the second Lady Scott of Abbotsford, 
and of her mother, Mrs. Jobson of Lochore. Here they resided 
from 1849 to 1865, after having been tenants at No. 34 in 
1846. 

Mrs." Jobson, who was the daughter of John Stewart, 
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fourth laird of Stenton, prided herself in a claim of descent 
from King Robert II. When the marriage between her 
daughter Jane, 'the pretty heiress of Lochore,' and the elder 
son of Sir Walter Scott was mooted, she took umbrao-e at the 
baronetcy in prospect as being too recent. The a:thor of 
Waverley, however, bore Mrs. Jobson no ill-will; indeed 
characterised her to Mrs. Hughes of Uffington as 'a very 
worthy woman in excellent, sound, old-fashioned Scottish 
principles ' if ' rather straitly laced ' in her Presbyterianism. 

In Memoirs of a Highland Lady (p. 306), Elizabeth Grant 
of Rothiemurchus (afterwards Mrs. Smith of Baltiboys), 
writes somewhat maliciously of the mother-in-law of the second 
Sir Walter Scott. Here is the reference: 'The fat, vulgar 
Mrs. Jobson whose low husband had made his large fortune 
at Dundee by pickling herrings, on being congratulated at 
the approaching marriage of her daughter to Sir Walter's 
son, said the young people were attached, otherwise her Jane 
might have looked higher ; it was only a baronetcy, and 
quite a late creation.' 

The lady of Rothiemurchus would have been on firmer 
ground if, before indulging her spite, she had made sure of 
the facts. She is not accurate in stating that the father of 
the second Lady Scott of Abbotsford made his money by 
pickling herrings in Dundee. On the contrary, he was a 
London merchant who, on returning to Scotland, bought the 
estate of Lochore in Fife. He died in 1822, leaving an only 
child, Jane, who in 1825 married Scott's elder son. The 
ceremony took place at 6 Shandwick Place, Edinburgh. 
Young Walter was given a command in the Hussars stationed 
in India, but in 1846 was stricken with fever after a tiger 
hunt at Bangalore. He died on 8th February while being 
conveyed to England. His remains were interred beside 
those of his father in Dry burgh Abbey. 

Lady Scott lived till her seventy-sixth year, dying on 
19th March 1877. As already noted, a large portion of her 
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widowhood was passed at the house in George Square, within 
a hundred yards of where her illustrious father-in-law spent 
his youth. Lady Scott lived in complete retirement, much 
of her secluded existence being devoted to reading books and 
newspapers. She was, rather surprisingly, much interested 
in politics, following closely the varying fortunes of party 
government in Victorian times. A feature of her character 
was her extreme reticence. Rarely did she mention her 
husband's name, and she never could be prevailed on to 
speak of Abbotsford. 

No. 33 transports us again into the artistic domain. It 
was the home for many years of Sir Joseph Noel Paton, Queen 
Victoria's Limner for Scotland. His paintings of mythological, 
historical, and religious scenes-' Hesperus,' 'Luther at 
Erfurt,' and the rest--are widely known and appreciated. 
When Sir Noel was painting his great picture 'The Gentle 
Shepherd,' he was so insistent on verisimilitude that he 
ordered a live lamb from his butcher, the lamb and its mother 
being conveyed daily to his studio in George Square. 

Sir Noel was an indefatigable collector of art objects, 
notably armoury, and various antiquities. The collection, 
probably the most valuable and beautiful of its kind in 
Scotland, was admirably arranged in his house, the walls of 
which were closely but artistically hung with weapons, while 
on pedestals stood seven mail-clad warriors who, remarks 
one writer, 'looked particularly well in the evening when the 
firelight played over the polished steel and cast strange 
shadows on the walls.' Nearly all the suits of mail and a 
large number of the weapons belonged to the fifteenth century. 
After Sir Noel's death this very notable collection was pur­
chased, largely by public subscription, and found a permanent 
home in the Royal Scottish Museum. ' 

The earliest associations of No. 34 are with William 
Baillie, the Scots judge, whose judicial title was Lord 
Polkemmet. The name is derived from a landed property 

M 
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in West Lothian, on which stands a Scottish Baronial mansion. 
Polkemmet's career on the bench lasted from 1793 to 1811, 
when he resigned. He died in 1816. By his first wife, a 
daughter of Sir James Colquhoun of Luss, he had one son, 
Sir William Baillie, and four daughters. Early last century 
other members of the Polkemmet family resided at No. 34-
notably Lt.-Col. Robert Baillie, of the East India Company, 
and Miss Isabella Baillie. The former died in George Square 
in 1820. He took part in the second Rohilla War, being 
present at the sanguinary battle of Bitaurah when the fate 
of the East India Company hung in the balance. 

It is a far cry from George Square to New York but both 
are linked in the career of Andrew Elliot of Greenwells, who 
in 1788 was residing at No. 34. He was the third son of Sir 
Gilbert Elliot of Minto, Bart., Lord Justice-Clerk. While 
very young he went to Philadelphia where he served as an 
apprentice in a counting-house. Subsequently he embarked 
on a mercantile career. After marriage with a second wife 
who possessed a large fortune, Elliot returned to Britain, 
and obtained a place of honour and emolument in the house­
hold of the Princess Dowager of Wales. 

By 1764 he had returned to America, where he quickly 
made his mark. He was appointed Receiver-General and 
Collector of New York, offices which he held till the close of 
the American Revolution. In 1774 he seized a quantity of 
fire-arms, and the people threatened to tar and feather him. 
By 1782, in addition to being head of the Customs, he was 
Lieut.-Governor of New York, Receiver-General of quit rents, 
and Superintendent of Police. 

When in 1780 Sir Henry Clinton made a final attempt to 
save Major Andre, Elliot was one of three persons sent to 
confer with George Washington. After the evacuation of 
New York in 1783, Elliot sailed with his family for England. 
Five years later this maker of American history was residing 
at 34 George Square, where he died in 1800. 
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In the year following Elliot's death No. 34 became the 
town residence of David Anderson of St. Germains, East 
Lothian. He saw much service with the East India Company, 
and by character and ability rose to the position, onerous if 
exalted, of secretary to Warren Hastings, the first Governor­
General of India. The relationship between the two men 
was almost fraternal. In Memoirs of Warren Hastings, com­
piled by G. K. Gleig (3 vols., 1841), a work which Anderson 
materially assisted, numerous letters from the Governor­
General to his faithful and efficient secretary are printed. 
Intimate, and even affectionate, they are revealing to the 
extent of showing that Warren Hastings was deeply interested 
in the various members of the Anderson family. His letters 
sometimes begin ' My dear Friend,' and he rarely forgets to 
enquire after the welfare of Mrs. Anderson and the children, 
one of whom was Hastings' godson. 

The 'peculiar talents and wariness of Mr. David Anderson' 
qualified him, in the opinion of Hastings, to fill any post in 
the East India Company's service. The cordial relation of 
the two men is shown in one of Hastings' letters. 'We often 
t.alk of you and dear Mrs. Anderson, and always with fervent 
wishes for your present tranquillity and yet reserved happi­
ness.' Here is a passage from another letter of Hastings, 
dated 6th October 1814 : ' I wish I could have accompanied 
you [i.e. Anderson] in your late tour. Every inch that has 
fallen within the touch of Walter Scott is to me consecrated 
ground.' On his return from India Anderson built himself 
a plain mansion near Tranent, on a small estate known as 
St. Germains. Here the Knights Hospitallers had an estab­
lishment founded in the twelfth century. 

In the middle of last century No. 35 was the residence of 
Charles Lawson of Borthwick Hall, Lord Provost of Edinburgh 
from 1862 to 1865. Lawson, a seed merchant, was conse­
quential and fond of show. Indeed his hospitality was on a 
scale that made deep inroads on his purse. When the question 
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of precedence between Edinburgh and Dublin came before 
the House of Lords, the Lord Provost, as he was then, took 
his official carriage to London, where he was waited on by 
powdered footmen. 

But Lawson's great opportunity for display came in 1863, 
when the Prince and Princess of Wales (afterwards Edward 
VII and Queen Alexandra) visited Edinburgh shortly after 
their marriage. The city was brilliantly illuminated, and on 
the night of 2nd October their Royal Highnesses dined with 
Lord Provost Lawson at his house in George Square. The 
grandeur and sumptuousness of the occasion remained a 
vivid memory with the citizens for many a day. Parenthetic­
ally it may be stated that the supper, wine, and music were 
brought from Paris. Lawson's spending capacity was great 
and his personal affairs were endangered. 

The Veitches of Eliock (a Dumfriesshire estate with a 
mansion in which the ' Admirable Crichton ' was born) had 
their town house at No. 35 during the early years of last 
century. From 1784 to 1799 it had been occupied by Rear­
Admiral William Lockhart. Perhaps the most notable 
member of the Veitch family was James Veitch, a Lord of 
Session with the title of Lord Eliock. He is said to have 
been ' endowed with mental qualities of the first order ' 
besides being 'one of the most accomplished scholars of his 
time.' His judgeship lasted from 1760 till his death in 1793. 
Lord Eliock owned the lands of Piershill and Three Steps 
near Edinburgh. 

Henry Veitch of Eliock, who resided at No. 35, was a 
relative of the judge. He was Lt.-Col. of the 98th Regiment 
of Foot. His wife was Zepherina, daughter of Thomas 
Loughnan of Madeira. She was a great-granddaughter of 
Alexander Fergusson of Craigdarroch, by his wife Anne, one 
of the four daughters of Sir Robert Laurie of Maxwelltown­
the ' bonnie Annie Laurie ' of the song. Fergusson was a 
friend of Burns, and is the hero of ' The Whistle.' Henry 

FAMOUS RESIDENTS-SOUTH ROW 93 

Veitch's daughter married Robert Macqueen of Braxfield, 
grandson of R. L. Stevenson's Weir of Hermiston. 

David Urquhart of Braelangwell, who at the end of the 
eighteenth century owned No. 36, was the father of the 
diplomatist of the same name (1805-77), by his second wife, 
a Miss Hunter, sister of an Edinburgh merchant who was a 
large owner of property in the New Town, and left a fortune 
of over £100,000. The son was educated in France, Switzer­
land, and Spain. In 1831-32 he was attached to Sir Stratford 
Canning's mission. Subsequently he was sent to Constanti­
nople to report on British trade. In 1847 he entered the House 
of Commons as member for Stafford, became a bitter opponent 
of Palmerston, and figured as a champion of Turkish inde­
pendence. In 1864 Urquhart withdrew from public life 
owing to ill-health, and died at Naples. A thorough master 
of Turkish, he was known in Constantinople as ' The English 
Bey.' 

For many years No. 36 was the town house of Adam 
Maitland of Dundrennan, father and son. The estate of 
Dundrennan adjoins the Kirkcudbrightshire village of that 
name, and near it is the ruined abbey, in which it is said, 
though on doubtful authority, Mary Queen of Scots passed 
the last night of her sojourn in Scotland. Dundrennan 
belonged to the Maitlands for several centuries. 

Adam Maitland the Younger was the brother-in-law of 
Lord Cockburn, who commented sarcastically on his relative 
assuming the title of Lord Dundrennan when he became a 
Lord of Session in succession to Jeffrey. 'I hope,' wrote the 
author of Memorials of His Time, 'he will be the last who 
will show the infirmity of changing his own name-preferring 
t hat of his clods in mounting the judgment-seat. He is hence­
forth to be called" Dundrennan." Nonsense! ' His Lordship, 
who figures in Crombie's Modern Athenians, succeeded to 
the ancestral domain in 1843. Shortly thereafter he was 
elected to represent the Stewartry in Parliament. A noted 
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bibliophile, his valuable library was dispersed at his death 
in 1851. 

An early resident at No. 37 was William Riddell of Camies­
ton, Roxburghshire. Born in 1747, Riddell was a Wri~r 
to the Signet, but also appears to have been connected with 
the Scottish Exchequer. In 1776 he married Elizabeth, only 
surviving daughter of John Carre of Cavers Carre. Riddell 
died in 1829. 

Another occupant of this house was Lt.-Col. John Munro 
of the East India Company. He took part in military opera­
tions in the Jumna-Doab, 1803, and Sasni, and in the settle­
ment of Hariana and Bhawani. Munro gave his name to ~he 
9th Native Infantry-' Mureeroo-K.i-Paltan '-a regiment 
raised in 1803. 

The first proprietor of No. 38 was Capt. Alexander Park 
of the East India Company's army in Bengal. He married 
Mary, daughter of George Graham of Kernock, a wine 
merchant in Nicolson Street, Edinburgh, and a cadet of the 
house of Montrose. Park, who is stated to have ' made a 
good fortune as an India Captain,' owned the estate of 
Lochore in Fife, subsequently the property of the Jobsons, 
whose daughter became the second Lady Scott of Abbotsford. 

It is related of the father-in-law of Capt. Park that, on 
the death in action of his grandson, heir of Thomas Graham, 
M.P. for Kinross, he 'willed the estate [of Kinross] to that 
one of his two daughters who should first have a son to reach 
the age of twenty-one years.' This stimulated the ladies to 
haste and they both married within six months of the old 
man's death. Mrs. Park never had a son ; but the other 
daughter, who married Sir James Montgomery of Stanhope, 
was the mother of Graham Montgomery, who succeeded as 
third baronet of Stanhope. 

Park was a link with Warren Hastings and the stormy 
days of the Rohilla and first Mahratta wars. In these years 
of tumult he was secretary and Persian Interpreter, first 
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to Col. Goddard, and then to Lt.-Col. Granger Muir of the 
Bengal Infantry. Years later, Park was Lt.-Col. of Princess 
Charlotte of Wales' Loyal MacLeod Fencibles (1798-1802), on 
duty in Ireland. He died on 12th November 1814, aged 76. 

Henry Dundas, then Treasurer of the Navy, bought No. 38 
from Park in 1788 and retained possession until 1793. During 
this time there took place the Dundas riots picturesquely 
depicted by James Grant in his novel Oliver Ellis. 

The next owner was Richard Fisher of Loretto, after whom 
came Robert Cathcart of Drum, W.S., the 'gentleman of 
high worth and integrity ' mentioned by Lockhart as being 
a partner in Constable's business. Cathcart of Drum was 
succeeded by Major William Miller, 'late of the Royal 
Regiment of Horse Guards,' who appears in the Edinburgh 
Directory for 1812-14 as a wine merchant. Then came Mrs. 
Home of Argaty who ' at the time of the French invasion 
scare ... raised a troop of yeomanry among her tenants and 
neighbours,' her son-in-law being captain. She marched 
with them to a review in Edinburgh. 

Lt.-Col. Leatham, already mentioned, spent several years 
in No. 38 before it was sold by Mrs. Home's grandson to 
Dr. Andrew Fyfe, Professor of Chemistry at Aberdeen from 
1844-61. Dr. Fyfe's tenants included Sir William Johnston 
of Kirkhill, Lord Provost of Edinburgh 1848-51, founder of 
the firm of W. & A. K. Johnston, mapmakers ; and the Rev. 
Dr. David Arnot of St. Giles', whose talents for sculpture 
and versification are noted by his contemporaries. 

The house next became the property of Professor Peter 
Guthrie Tait (1831 -1900), for forty-one years Professor of 
Natural Philosophy in the University of Edinburgh. A vivid 
description of the Professor in his George Square home is 
given in the Life of William Robertson Smith, by J. S. Black 
and G. Chrystal: 

Professor Tait was at this time at the height of his reputation as 
a teacher and as a man of science, and was working in close association 
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with his illust1·ious Glasgow colleague, Sir William Thomson, after­
wards Lord Kelvin, in various undertakings, including the production 
of a celebrated text-book, familiarly known from the circumstance 
of the collaboration as ' T & T1.' Apart from his distinction as a 
natural philosopher Tait was personally a remarkable figure, even in 
a generation which maintained at a very high level the traditional 
glories of the Modern Athenians. He was a man considerably above 
the average stature, with a rugged head that Rodin would have liked 
to copy. The outlines of his face were bold and stern, but with this 
the intense kindliness of his eyes and the benign expression of his 
mouth made a contrast which was almost startling. His personality 
acted like a charm on those who had the privilege of his intimacy. 
This was probably due in great measure to the strain of buoyant, 
almost boyish, enthusiasm which permeated his character to the end 
of his days. When he was not engaged in a strenuous course of golf 
at St. Andrews or a long walk near Edinburgh, his kingdom was a 
barely furnished little room in his house, 38 George Square, lined to 
the ceiling with books, and littered with piles of pamphlets and dusty 
manuscript, mostly covered with a neatly written maze of quaternionic 
or other mathematical symbols, pervaded with the odour of tobacco, 
and, in his earlier days, usually graced with a hospitable beer-jug 
which stood on the mantelpiece. Here he would work hour after hour, 
standing at a high ink-stained desk. But, however busy, he was always 
ready to welcome a friend, with whom he would discuss and argue 
with a tolerance and good humour which would have greatly surprised 
those who knew him only as a keen gladiator in the scientific arena. 

Professor Tait's third son, Lieut. Frederick Guthrie Tait, 
Black Watch (1870-1900), who was twice winner and a third 
time runner-up in the Amateur Golf Championship, and whose 
successes in 1896 caused that year to be known as ' Tait's 
year ' in the golfing world, was wounded at Magersfontein. 
As soon as Tait had recovered he rejoined his regiment, only 
however to fall, being shot through the heart, at Koodoosberg, 
on the banks of the Riet River, where a few lonely graves are 
all that now mark the site of the battle in which the ' gay 
and gallant Freddy Tait ' lost his life. 

The building immediately to the east of the central lane 
leading to the Meadows, and numbered 39, is one of the few 

PROFESSOR P. G. 'l.~Arl', l\;[A'.l'HEl\.'IA'l'LCIAN A ND PHY SICIST, 
COLLABORA'l.'OR ,vr.r.a LORD l{ELVJN 

From, the painting by Si1· George Reid in Scottish National Portrai t Gallery 
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houses in George Square in which, ever since its erection, 
several families have resided, each occupying a flat. It recalls 
scholastic memories, for in the top storey lived Dr. Alexander 
Adam, the most celebrated rector of the High School of 
Edinburgh. 

Adam's rectorship lasted forty-three years. Cockburn, 
one of his scholars, says epigrammatically : ' He was born 
to teach Latin, some Greek, and all virtue.' And there is 
Walter Scott's tribute : ' It was from this respectable man 
that I first learned the value of knowledge, which I had 
hitherto considered only as a burdensome task.' Adam was 
a supreme master of the art of teaching, a competent classicist, 
and a moral and intellectual force in the age of Hume and 
Adam Smith, of Scott and Cockburn. 

Early in life he had thoughts of entering the ministry, but 
gradually his leanings towards the classics and the vocation 
of the pedagogue ousted divinity. After being headmaster 
of George Watson's Hospital and tutor in the family of 
Alexander Kincaid, His Majesty's Printer for Scotland, he 
was made rector of the High School, a position he held till 
his death. 

Convinced of the futility of teaching boys Latin rules they 
could not understand, Adam prepared a Latin grammar in 
English. While the work met with the approbation of ' some 
of the best judges about Edinburgh,' it also led to a long 
and acrimonious controversy. The professors of Greek and 
Latin in the University objected that Adam was encroaching 
on their province. 

In spite of the attacks on his textbook Adam's Latin class 
continued to flourish. In the year of his death there were 
167 pupils, a number equal to the whole attendance at the 
school when he became rector. His best known book is 
Roman Antiquities. It went through several editions and its 
merits were recognised by Edinburgh University conferring 
the LL.D. degree on the author. 

N 
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Adam was of medium height. He had blue eyes and a 
ruddy complexion. Till near the end he wore a queue, and 
was always neatly dressed in a brown coat, black waistcoat, 
and silk stockings, with knee and shoe buckles. It was 
Adam's custom on leaving school to walk to Arthur's Seat, 
planning his work as he climbed to the summit. In later 
years he would stroll in the Meadows or the Grange district. 
On 13th December 1809 he was seized with apoplexy while 
teaching his class, and died after five days' illness. His last 
words are reported to have been: 'But it grows dark, boys 
-you may go; we must put off the rest till tomorrow.' 

The funeral took place on 29th December. The masters 
and boys of the High School to the number of six hundred, 
' walking in regular procession' (says the Scots Magazine), 
preceded the corpse. 

The Magistrates and Council in their state dress followed it . The 
Principal and Professors of the University in their gowns came next ; 
and then above seven hundred gentlemen ... far the greater part of 
whom had been Dr. Adam's pupils, closed the scene. Among these, 
heads of the Supreme Courts, Judges, and Ministers of Edinburgh 
were observed ; and the members of a Society of young gentlemen, 
chiefly of the Bar, who had lately presented the High School with a 
portrait, by Mr. Raeburn, of their honoured master, and who attended 
in a body, were particularly remarkable. When the procession reached 
the Churchyard [in Buccleuch Street] the boys formed into two lines, 
standing uncovered, and showed in their countenances and deport­
ment, that the mark of respect was strongly felt which they were now 
paying for the last time to the venerated remains which passed before 
them. 

The north window of Buccleuch Parish Church contains 
a memorial to Adam. His son, Dr. ·walter Adam, Fellow of 
the Royal College of Physicians, Edinburgh, also resided at 
No. 39. In compliance with the desire of the Council of the 
Society of Antiquaries of Scotland, he submitted a report of 
his observations at the exhumation of the body of Mary of 
Gueldres, wife of James II, King of Scots, within Trinity 
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College, Edinburgh, on 23rd May 1848. Queen Mary was 
buried in Trinity College, which she founded in 1462. When 
the building was demolished in 1848, her body was taken out 
of the tomb, in which it had lain for nearly four hundred years, 
and re-interred in the royal vault at Holyrood. 

A highly romantic story attaches to the boarding school 
for young ladies carried on by the Misses Margaret and Jean 
Cramond from 1804 to 1845 'in the eastmost half of the first 
storey from the street' of No. 39, likewise in' half of the two 
ground storeys.' The Misses Cramond, who were daughters 
of Rev. Robert Cramond, minister of Yarrow, were assisted 
in the management of the seminary by their widowed mother. 
Some time in the years between 1804 and 1812, one of the 
young ladies, Charlotte Ferrier, aged seventeen, formed an 
attachment with William Waddell, aged twenty-one, member 
of a family of woollen manufacturers. The infatuation grew 
so strong that Charlotte, no doubt with the help of her lover, 
contrived an elopement. Climbing out of a back window of 
the boarding school, she made an easy descent into the 
garden, and, obtaining access to the lane adjoining by a side 
gate, she made off with Waddell. In 1821 Waddell pur­
chased a woollen mill in Northumberland, not however 
under the most favourable conditions. No matter, he was 
energetic and enterprising and built up a flourishing busi­
ness. Of the eleven children of William Waddell and 
Charlotte Ferrier, the son who bore the father's name 
remained at the mill, which is still carried on, the present 
William Waddell representing the fourth generation, all of 
whom have borne the same name. Such has been the happy 
sequel of a runaway marriage, the heroine being one of the 
pupils of the boarding school kept by the Misses Cramond 
at No. 39 George Square. 

By coincidence another teacher of classics at the High 
School, almost as famous as Dr. Adam, though never rector, 
was a tenant of No. 39. Like his renowned predecessor, Dr. 
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James Boyd (he was an LL.D. of Glasgow University) lived 
and died in George Square. 

Adam began his teaching career as headmaster of George 
Watson's Hospital; Boyd as house governor of Heriot's 
Hospital. After graduating at Glasgow University, Boyd 
spent two years in the study of medicine. Then he entered 
the Divinity Hall, and became a licensed preacher. Eventu­
ally he found his true vocation as a teacher of classics. His 
character and ability were early recognised. When Boyd 
left Heriot's Hospital in 1829, he was presented with his 
portrait painted by Thomas Duncan, R.S.A., a tribute to 
his 'high talents, varied accomplishments, and professional 
skill.' 

Boyd's entry into the High School synchronised with the 
removal of the seminary from the old premises in Infirmary 
Street to the spacious and elegant, if not wholly convenient 
building on the Calton Hill. Here he taught for nearly 
twenty-seven years. ' Dr. Boyd's Fourth Class ' was so 
outstanding as to be the subject of a brochure. He was 
adored by his pupils and several clubs were organised in his 
honour. Nor is this all. Two 'Boyd clubs' were formed by 
British officers serving in the Crimean War, and within two 
months of Boyd's death in 1856 a medal named after him, 
and to be presented annually to the ' dux ' of the ' Fourth 
Class,' was subscribed for by past and present scholars as 
well as friends generally. 

Boyd was long the secretary of the Edinburgh Society of 
Teachers. When he passed away that organisation adopted 
a resolution stating that ' throughout the one hundred and 
twenty years ' of the Society's existence 'no member or 
office-bearer contributed more to maintain its efficiency and 
secure its welfare.' Boyd employed much of his leisure in 
editing classical textbooks, and it is pleasant to record that 
he linked his name with that of Dr. Adam by sending forth 
a new and revised edition of the latter's Roman Antiquities. 
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Boyd's recension, a scholarly production, was reprinted no 
fewer than fifteen times between 1834 and 1856. 

In 1784 there resided at No. 40 Captain John Inglis, R.N., 
who may have been a member of the Auchindinny and Red­
hall family. Early last century No. 40 was occupied by 
James Baird of the Exchequer, who narrowly escaped being 
shot in his office by a madman. Like Bartoline Saddletree, 
John Skene, the culprit, set up as a propounder of the mys­
teries of the law. He also persuaded Dr. Hugh Blair to believe 
that he was a clergyman, so much so that it was arranged 
(at least so the story goes) that he should occupy the pulpit 
of the High Church (St. Giles'). Skene also harangued 'for the 
good of the public,' but tiring of this occupation, applied to the 
Exchequer for remuneration. On being repulsed, he entered the 
premises with a loaded pistol, and threatened to shoot Baird. 
He was instantly disarmed, and confined as a lunatic. 

From 1783, and for many years thereafter, No. 41 was 
occupied by the widow of Sir William Lockhart of Carstairs, 
Bart. (nee Catherine Porterfield). During her married life 
Lady Lockhart occupied a mansion at the west end of 
Fountainbridge, but removed to No. 41 George Square when 
her sister Janet, who was heil' to Sir William Lockhart, 
married William Bertram of Nisbet. The Porterfields of 
Fullwood, from whom Lady Lockhart claimed descent, were 
prominent for their Covenanting principles. According to 
Wodrow, they were victims of 'exorbitant fining and long 
imprisonment.' 

At No. 41 there was living in 1811 Gilbert Chisholme of 
Stirches, who is associated in rather a curious way with the 
early history of aviation. In 1784 Vincent Lunardi, the 
balloonist, made a descent near Alemoor, Selkirkshire, after 
a voyage from Glasgow. At the time of landing the laird of 
Stirches and his first wife, a daughter of Michael Anderson 
of Tushilaw, happened to be passing. They were both on 
horseback, and, noticing so singular an incident, were deeply 
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interested in the aeronaut's exploit. Mrs. Chisholrne wished 
to ascend, and the gas in the balloon not being exhausted, 
Lunardi assisted her into the car. After a voyage of several 
miles, the balloon safely descended at Redford Green. There­
after Lunardi accompanied Mrs. Chisholme to Stirches. 

Chisholme on attaining his majority went to London, 
where he led a fashionable life to the injury of his fortune . 
On returning to Stirches there was no abatement of his 
expensive habits, and a portion of the estate was sold. In 
spite of his extravagance, Chisholme was public-spirited and 
popular. In 1798 he formed the Hawicl~ volunt~ers'. which 
checked a certain amount of lawlessness m the district, one 
of the fruits of the French Revolution. After a time the 
corps was disbanded but was re-embodied in 1801, largely 
through Chisholrne's efforts, as was acknowledged ':hen t~e 
volunteers marched to Stirches and presented the laird, t hen· 
commander, with a silver cup. 

In 1802 Chisholme married his second wife, Elizabeth, 
daughter of John Scott of Whitehaugh, by whom he had two 
sons and two daughters. Latterly his affairs became so 
embarrassed that he had to sell Stirches. The purchaser, 
Capt. Michael Anderson, lived only fo~ years _after the 
transaction. By his will he bequeathed St1rches to its former 
owner. So Gilbert Chisholrne was laird once more, and 
remained so until his own death in 1820. 

The first proprietor of No. 42, Major Archibald Erskine 
(1746-1804) was the youngest son, by his second wife (Anne, 
daughter of James Stirling of Keir) of John Erskine of Carnock 
and Cardross, Professor of Scots Law in Edinburgh Uni­
versity, and author of the celebrated Institutes of the Laws of 
Scotland. Major Erskine, who was a half-brother of Dr. John 
Erskine of Greyfriars Church, probably inherited his taste 
for a military life from his grandfather, Lt. -Col. the Hon. 
John Erskine of Carnock (the 'Black Colonel'). In 1771 
Erskine joined the Black Watch, then serving in Ireland. 
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The regiment returned to Scotland in 1775 after an absence 
of thirty-two years, but immediately was ordered to America. 
In August 1776 the Black Watch took part in the battle of 
Brooklyn, by which the British recovered New York. The 
regiment later engaged in several successful actions and when, 
in November 1777, the British entered Philadelphia, it took part. 

Erskine married Margaret, daughter of Charles Maitland 
Barclay, second son of the twelfth Earl of Lauderdale. On 
retiring from the Army in 1782, he settled in Edinburgh. 
James Boswell met him at dinner at No. 27, on 9th February 
1783. Boswell records in his Journal that he ' went in a chair 
and dined (for the first time) with the Hon. Henry Erskine; 
the Hon. Alexander Gordon, Mr. David Erskine, and his 
brother Archibald there. I drank Teneriffe Negus and was 
comfortably warmed in body, but my Mind roved on London, 
and was discontented, though we had good social tallr.' 

Erskine, who bought No. 42 in 1786 and resided there 
until 1799, was one of the original officers of the Edinburgh 
Royal Volunteers, and was admitted a burgess of Edinburgh 
at the presentation of coloms in September 1794. In 1798 
Erskine pmchased the estate of Venlaw overlooking the town 
of Peebles. His death is recorded in the Scots Magazine for 
1804 and there is a tablet commemorating him in the old 
Cross Kirk of Peebles. 

The second proprietor of No. 42 was Alexander Horsburgh 
of Horsburgh (cl. 1829), only son of John Horsburgh of that 
Ilk. He married Violet, daughter of Thomas Turnbull of 
Know, as we are reminded by Mrs. Alison Cockburn, who, in 
one of her letters, writes : ' My neighbour Horseburgh will 
soon be marryd to Miss Turnbull of Know, a fine girl, and I 
am glad of that.' Burns notes in the Journal of his Border 
tom that he ' drank tea yesternight [May 15, 1787] at Pirn 
with Mr. Horse burgh. ' 

The story of No. 43 begins with the widow of John Pringle, 
W.S. (d. 1784), grandson of Sir Robert Pringle of Stichel. 
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l\'Irs. Pringle, a daughter of James Drummond of Blair Drum­
mond, died in 1804. Next comes Charles Kerr of Bughtrig, 
Berwickshi.re, who is described on his tombstone in Greyfriars 
Churchyard as ' of Calder Bank, late of Bughtrig, Capt. in 
the 43rd Regiment, and King's printer for Scotland; ob. 
18th July 1813, aged 60.' One of the original officers of the 
Edinburgh Volunteers, his portrait by David Martin hangs 
in the Scottish National Military and Naval Museum in 
Edinburgh Castle. Kerr was another of Boswell's friends. 
Johnson's biographer notes in his Journal early in 1794 (when 
he was in London), that Robert Boswell, W.S., and ' Mr. Ker, 
King's Printer for Scotland,' dined with him. 

The third proprietor of No. 43 was Sir Walter's friend, 
Charles Balfour Scott, W.S., of Woll (1782-1838). Scott 
mentions him in his Journal, in particular on 25th May 1830, 
when he writes: 'Walkd in very bad day to George's 
[Square] from the parliament House, through paths once 
familiar, but not trod for twenty years, met Scott of Woll 
and Scott of Gala and consulted about the new road between 
Galashiels and Selkirk.' 

In 1807 No. 43 was bought by Dr. John Inglis (1763-1834), 
the successor of Principal Robertson in Old Greyfriars Church. 
Man and preacher are described in Peter's Letters to his Kins­
folk. There is also Cockburn's tribute : 

Inglis has two enemies to overcome in his look and his voice, both 
of which are unfortunate . ... But a strong and acute understanding, 
general intelligence, deep and ready reasoning, clear diction, and the 
mam1ers of a gentleman, make him a vigorous writer ... and always 
an admirable debater. No strong adversary ever measured mind 
against him without feeling his force .... He is one of the many men 
who have been wasted and lowered by being cast on an unworthy 
scene .... He is a first-rate preacher. The fanatical taste of the age, 
however, has gone on diminishing his hearel'S, till at last his church 
is nearly empty. Yet his almost bare walls hear as good, if not better, 
every-day sermons, than are preached in any church in Scotland 
except by Chalmers. 

JOHN INGLIS, LOHD .J U STICE-GENERAL OF SCOTLA ND, 1807-91 

By permission of J.1frssrs. W. Green &: Son, L td., law publishers 
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Inglis, who originated the scheme for the evangelisation 
of India, was the father of Lord Glencorse, better known as 
Lord President Inglis (1810-91), 'the chief legal ornament 
of the Scottish Bench since Lord Stair,' according to the 
author of Some Nineteenth Century Scotsmen. He quotes 
Alexander Taylor Innes, advocate, as follows : 

You are giving recollections of John Inglis. I hope you will not 
forget that, to some extent, he must have been the original of Weir 
of Hermiston. Of course the historical original was Braxfield, that 
' formidable blacksmith ' on the bench a hundred years ago. But 
when Robert Louis Stevenson (as I remember him) walked the 
Parliament House, the only man who could have resuscitated in his 
imagination the visage of that ancient ruffian was the stately and 
courteous President. Far away in Samoa, the author fell in love with 
his own creation, Hermiston ; and had the book been completed, he 
would have still more idealised him. But in real life he had held that 
the head of our Court in the Seventies was ' the greatest man in 
Scotland ' ; a man who in external aspect impressed both Stevenson 
and his brethren as (in the words of one of the cleverest of them) 

' The rhadamanthine, adamantine Inglis.' 
When in future years readers of Stevenson's Hermiston come to 

the Parliament House of Edinburgh to see the portrait of Braxfield 
by Raeburn, they should turn to the left before they depart, and look 
also at the portrait of Inglis by Reid. Only thus do they get the two 
halves of Adam Weir. In the Raeburn it is difficult to find the 
intellectual power and despotic will of the Braxfield, either of history 
or of the novel. ... 

But look at Inglis ! It is the face of a man who despises popularity 
from the heai·t-who on the whole would rather not have it. He 
dwells alone, in a realm of intellectual energy, but with a thunder­
cloud brnoding over it so habitually, that the inward menace has 
moulded the features almost into a scowl. ... On canvas, he is more 
Braxfield than Braxfield himself .... 

At No. 44 we come again on the representative of a 
notable Border family-Jolm Rutherford of Edgerston. This 
family have always been classed amongst the most ancient 
and powerful in Teviotdale. John Rutherford's father, who 

0 
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bore the same name, was an advocate but exchanged the law 
for a military life. He became captain of an infantry regiment 
at New York and was killed at the battle of Ticonderoga in 
1758. John Rutherford, the younger, sat in Parliament for 
Selkirkshire and later for Roxburghshire, of which he was 
also Vice-Lieutenant and colonel of the local militia. His 
wife was Mary Ann, only daughter of the Hon. Major-Gen. 
Alexander Leslie. Rutherford died in 1834. 

In 1786, a Presbyterian minister who in maturer years 
was successively minister of New Greyfriars and the collegiate 
charge of St. Giles', had his abode at No. 45. In important 
respects the career of Dr. Robert Henry resembles that of 
Principal Robertson. Both were parish ministers and both 
earned renown, not on the strength of their pulpit attain­
ments, but as historians of their country. And so far as 
commercial results are concerned, neither had any reason to 
complain. Robertson's History of Charles V brought him 
£4500, in addition to the praise of Gibbon and Voltaire, while 
Henry, after nearly thirty years' labour, produced a six­
volume History of Britain, which yielded him £3300, and 
secured a pension of £100 a year from George III. 

The Hist(Yry of Britain, extending from the Roman invasion 
to the death of Henry VIII, was conceived on a new plan, 
the main feature being the allocation of chapters to social 
aspects. Dr. Johnson, who does not appear to have read the 
work, informed Principal Robertson that he heard Henry's 
work ' well spoken of.' But what puzzles the reader to-day 
is that so dull a work should have been the financial success 
it was. Henry's tomes exhibit the minimum of research, 
and are discursive and ill-arranged, while the literary quality 
is negligible. Still, as Grey Graham has pointed out, Henry 
deserves credit for having appreciated better than other 
historians 'the importance of studying the social movements 
of a nation as essential parts of its real history.' The same 
authority described Henry as ' one of those characteristic 
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Moderates of the old school who were genial in society, 
humorous at table, and deplorably dry-and deliciously 
conscious of being dry-in the pulpit.' 

It has already been noted that Dr. Robert K. Greville 
resided at No. 31 on the south side. At the south-east 
corner, in the two uppermost storeys, lived another famous 
scientist--Robert Jameson, who for thirty-four years occupied 
the Chair of Natural History in Edinburgh University. 
Although he was mainly a naturalist and Greville a botanist, 
both were geologists, both were members of the Wernerian 
Society, and both accumulated superb collections of specimens 
pertaining to their respective branches of knowledge. 

Jameson, who held conjointly with his professoriate the 
keepership of the University Museum, arranged geographically 
forty thousand specimens of rocks and minerals, in addition 
to ten thousand fossils, eight thousand birds, and many 
thousands of insects. He was the first great British exponent 
of Werner's geological doctrines, though in later years he was 
candid enough to admit that the views of James Hutton 
rested on a sounder basis. With his students, some of whom 
attained European reputation, Jameson was popular. Besides 
organising excursions that were a substantial means of 
enlightenment, he poured his instruction into many treatises. 
He founded, along with Sir David Brewster, Principal of 
Edinburgh University, the Edinburgh Philosophical Journal, 
of which, from the tenth volume, he was sole editor. 

Jameson was born at Leith in 1774, the son of a merchant 
reputed the largest soap manufacturer in Scotland. His 
first effort at authorship was two works illustrative of the 
natural history of the Hebrides. Indeed he was only fifteen 
when he made his first journey to Shetland with a scientific 
intention. On the return of Captain Parry from his Polar 
expedition, Jameson, at his request, drew up a sketch of the 
geology of the coast discovered by Parry. 

The original proprietor of a first fl.001; flat at No. 45 was 11 
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James Home of Linhouse, W.S. (1755-1819), who in 1796 
became Lyon-Depute. 

Early last century the flat at No. 45 was inherited by 
Mrs. Sibella Ann Morison or Wilson, widow of Archdeacon 
James Wilson, of the Episcopal Church, Canterbury, New 
Zealand (1813-86). Son of William Wilson, W.S., he was 
born in Edinburgh, and educated at Edinburgh Academy 
and Trinity College, Cambridge. In 1851 he went to New 
Zealand as a chaplain. Purchasing land in the Canterbury 
settlement, he engaged in farming but was mainly noteworthy 
for his services in adjusting the arrangements regarding the 
bishopric of Christchurch and Christ's College. In 1866 he 
was appointed a canon, and in 1871 Archdeacon of Akaron. 

At a more recent date this flat was tenanted by the Rev. 
John Anderson, Curator of the Historical Department of the 
Register House, whose editing of the Laing Charters (1899) 
for publication placed students of Scottish history and 
genealogy under a deep debt. 

The associations of No. 46 are with the Misses Margaret, 
Elizabeth, Marianne, Henrietta, Jane and Helen Robertson, 
the six handsome and witty daughters of David Robertson 
of Loretto, Musselburgh, and his wife Marion Forbes, daughter 
of Hugh Forbes of Loretto, one of the Clerks of Session, and 
a cadet of the Culloden family. Forbes married Margaret 
Aikman, granddaughter of the painter, William Aikman, last 
of the ' gude Lairds of Cairney.' 

All the sisters were remarkable for wit and beauty. Two 
of them-Elizabeth and Marianne- corresponded with Kirk­
patrick Sharpe. Three delightful letters by Elizabeth appear 
in Sharpe's Correspondence: 'Your gay friend Marianne,' 
she tells him, ' hasted to town for the birthday ball, where 
you know for many years she has shone resplendent. Helen 
likewise hurried off. They both pretended they should have 
liked to spend the winter in the country, but it struck me they 
were passing glad once more to inhale the delightful perfumes 
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of Auld Reekie ; and there they are, writing such accounts 
of balls, routs, dinners, suppers, as quite turns not only 
my head but my stomach.' In another epistle Elizabeth 
announces her plans to winter in Rome and invites Sharpe 
to stay with the sisters there, exclaiming ' What fun we 
should have!' Alexander Robertson appears to have lived 
at No. 46 with his sisters and to have shared their epistolary 
talents. 

Josiah Livingston, the historian of Buccleuch Place, gives 
this picture of the beautiful Misses Robertson in old age, 
about the year 1831 : 

Not exactly in the street, but in the part of George Square looking 
to the street, and in a house whose door was turned towards the street, 
lived a family of old ladies who greatly amused the boys. From our 
earliest recollection they all had been very old, but their dress was 
juvenile and gay. On their door was a very old oval brass plate, 
' Alexander Robertson, Advocate,' but never in our day had there 
been any member of the family except the maiden sisters .... Even 
in age they showed the remains of beauty of a high order, and their 
manners and bearing were courtly. It was said that one of them had 
been engaged to a Duke of Buccleuch, and, though the pigs had run 
through the match, neither she nor any of her sisters would henceforth 
accept the suit of anyone tmder an Earl. 

VII. FAMous RESIDENTS-EAST Row 

At the beginning of last century the houses on the east 
side were for the most part occupied by well-known Border 
families. As has been shown, they were resident in other 
parts of George Square, but seem to have been most numerous 
betwixt Buccleuch Place and Crichton Street. 

The earliest owner of No. 47 was Gilbert Innes of Stow 
(1751-1832), banker, musician, and 'perhaps the richest 
commoner in Scotland,' so at least we are led to believe from 
the sketch of him in I{ay's Original Portraits. Ultimately 
his fortune is reported to have exceeded a million sterling. 
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